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Question  
I live in a new apartment. Not much history here?  

Answer  
Since the 1980s many old factory and warehouse sites in 
Sydney became available for housing developments as the city 
deindustrialised. It is not so much a question of who lived in my 
house but what happened there? 
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Brief land history 
The name, Gadigal Avenue, is a reminder that for thousands of years Aboriginal people valued this 
land. In this locality a rich variety of native flora and fauna inhabited the system of sand dune 
wetlands that once extended across what has become known as the Green Square area. Former 
Indigenous people of the area would have gathered to forage in and around the body of water that 
became the Waterloo Swamp. The apartments in Gadigal Avenue stand in the middle of this 
swamp. 

This body of water was also attractive to the early colonists, intent on establishing manufacturing, 
and in 1815 the first water mill was built to take advantage of the swamp. 

Figure 1. Modern street layout of Gadigal Avenue area 
overlayed with detail of the swamp from Higinbotham and 
Robinson, Waterloo. 

 
Source: Atlas of the Suburbs of Sydney, Waterloo - Parish of Alexandria, Lithographed and 
published by Higinbotham and Robinson, c1885-90, City of Sydney Archives, A-00530197, 
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1069617 

  

https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1069617
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When land was granted by the Crown to European settlers, this property was part of 1,400 acres 
granted to William Hutchinson in 1823.1 He had been interested in the land earlier than this and 
was a part-owner in a consortium that built the Waterloo Mill in 18202 (see Figure 2). Hutchinson, 
a former convict, ended up with various other parcels of urban and rural property and he was 
involved in many early manufacturing and trading ventures in Sydney, as well becoming an original 
principal in the Bank of NSW.3 

During the 19th century industries using the swamp increased and the water decreased until it was 
eventually bounded by Epsom Road, Joynton Avenue, South Dowling Street and what would later 
become O’Dea Street. This area was purchased by Joynton Smith in 1904. He drained the land 
and created the Victoria Park Racecourse, known as the VP, opened for pony racing in 19084 (see 
Figure 3). Smith, moustached with one glass eye and a monocle, was a member of the Legislative 
Council and a Lord Mayor of Sydney. He owned several hotels and newspapers, including the racy 
Smiths Weekly.  

In the first half of the 20th century the VP was one of several privately owned racecourses in the area. 
It was described as one of the best, with some Randwick trainers stabling and working their horses at 
the VP in preference to the more famous Australian Jockey Club at Royal Randwick Racecourse.5 

In addition to horse and pony racing the track was used for other entertainments such as car 
racing, and in 1909 one of Australia’s first aeroplane flights. The last races were held in 1942 when 
the course was taken over for use by the military during World War II. In 1945 it was reopened for 
horse training but by now proprietary racing had been outlawed, so no further races were held.  

In 1948 the old racecourse was purchased by Lord William Nuffield of the British Motor 
Corporation. The company’s intention was to develop most of the subdivision as a motor 
manufacturing plant, and to sell off the remainder for mixed residential and industrial uses. 
However the residential component provided in initial subdivision plans submitted to the City 
Council was rejected on the advice of the new Cumberland County Council which had zoned this 
area for industrial uses only.6 The final subdivision for industrial uses was approved by the City 
Council on 10 December 1951 and finalised in 19527 (see Figure 4). The British Motor Corporation 
(Australia) Pty Ltd became the British Leyland Motor Corporation by 1969, then Leyland 
Corporation of Australia in 1972.8  

The factory commenced as an assembly plant around 1954 with about 150 employees. By the time 
it was in full production in the mid-1960s the workforce was around 4000. At its peak the plant 
employed between 5,000 and 5,500.9 The aerial photograph below of the original Nuffield’s 
subdivision shows the plant and neighbouring residential Randwick about a year before Leyland’s 
closed in December 1974 (see Figure 6). 

 
1 This is recorded in NSW Land Registry Services (NSW LRS), Certificate of Title (CT) Vol. 5980 Fol. 77. 
2 Scott Cummings, ‘Chimneys and Change: Post European impact on Green Square’, in Grace Karskens & Melita 
Rogowsky, Histories of Green Square, UNSW, 2004, p. 32. City of Sydney Archives LIB-00013123, 
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1750227. 
3 Paul Edwin Le Roy, 'Hutchinson, William (1772–1846)', Australian Dictionary of Biography, National Centre of 
Biography, Australian National University, http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/hutchinson-william-2217/text2879, published 
first in hardcopy 1966, accessed online 3 February 2015. 
4 Erik Nielsen, ‘A Course of Action: working class sporting culture at Victoria Park Racecourse, 1908-1943’, in Grace 
Karskens & Melita Rogowsky, Histories of Green Square, UNSW, 2004, pp.71-78. City of Sydney Archives LIB-
00013123, https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1750227. 
5 Wayne Peake and Australian Academy of the Humanities, Sydney's Pony Racecourses: an alternative racing history, 
Walla Walla Press, Petersham, NSW, 2006. 
6 Victoria Park Racecourse, Land bounded by Joynton Ave, Epson Rd, Dowling St & O'Dea Ave, Waterloo, 1950-65, City 
of Sydney Archives, A-00479767, 144/3175/50, https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1016389. 
7 NSW LRS, DP 24134. 
8 Barry Anderson, ed., Building Cars in Australia: Morris, Austin, BMC and Leyland 1950-1975, Halstead Press, 2012. 
9 City of Sydney, ‘Report on City of Sydney Industrial and Warehouse Buildings Heritage Study’, October 2014, Volume 1, p. 86. 

https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1750227
http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/hutchinson-william-2217/text2879
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1750227
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1016389
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Figure 2. The Waterloo Mills Woolwashing Establishment, 1877 

 
Source: ‘The Waterloo Mills Woolwashing Establishment’, Australian Town and Country Journal, 
16 June 1877, p. 20. 

Figure 3. Victoria Park Racecourse, 1930 – 1950 
The Victoria Park Racecourse opened for pony racing in 1908. 

 
Sources (clockwise from left): Factories closing in on the racecourse, Victoria Park Racecourse, 
1950, City of Sydney Archives, A-00013029, 
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/574462; State Library of NSW, Dunes at the 
south-eastern corner of Victoria Park Racecourse, 1930s, Home and Away – 7893, 
https://collection.sl.nsw.gov.au/record/9yM33869; State Library of NSW, Jaccuse, Home and Away 
– 31319, https://collection.sl.nsw.gov.au/record/YezEza29. 

 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article70602088
https://collection.sl.nsw.gov.au/record/9yM33869
https://collection.sl.nsw.gov.au/record/YezEza29
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Figure 4. Plan of subdivision of land, 1952 
This plan shows the subdivision of the Victoria Park Racecourse for Nuffield Australia Pty Ltd. 
The land has been subdivided into 12 industrial lots. Lot 12 became the BMC/Leyland site.  

 
Source: NSW Land Registry Services (LRS), Deposited Plan (DP) 24134 (1952) for subdivided 
land registered in Certificates of Title Vol. 5980 Fol. 77, Vol. 6153 Fol. 188 and Vol. 6214 Fol. 236. 
Plan viewed at https://hlrv.nswlrs.com.au  

  

https://hlrv.nswlrs.com.au/


House history: 22 Gadigal Avenue, Zetland 

8 

Figure 5. Maps of showground area and Zetland 
By the mid-1950s the Nuffield land was occupied by several factory buildings.  

 
Source: (Top) City of Sydney - City Engineer's Department, Town Planning Branch, City of Sydney 
- Civic Survey: Map 20 - Showground Area, 1938-50, City of Sydney Archives, A-00880358, 
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1709285; (Bottom) City of Sydney - City 
Engineer's Department, Town Planning Branch, City of Sydney - Civic Survey: Map 24 – Zetland, 
1938-50, City of Sydney Archives, A-00880362, 
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1709289 

  

https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1709285
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1709289


House history: 22 Gadigal Avenue, Zetland 

9 

Figure 6. The Leyland assembly plant, 18 August 1975 
Leyland plant, Joynton Avenue in foreground, Randwick racetrack in the distance. 

 
Source: Unknown.10 

Figure 7. Certificate of Title, 1951 
The Certificate of Title showing various transfers, including from William Nuffield to Nuffield 
(Australia) Pty Ltd.  

 
Source: NSW LRS, Certificate of Title (CT) Vol. 4136 Fol. 226.  

 
10 There are many aerial images of this site. The State Library of NSW holds a series dated 1964. This unsourced image 
which is dated 1975 is also one of a series which may have been commissioned for the firm at the end of the plant’s 
operations. 
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After Leylands  
When the Leylands operation closed in 1974 the plant was taken over by the Royal Australian Navy. 
There were eight general purpose factory buildings, as well as an administration building with room for 
about 450 staff (see Figure 8). The Navy proposed using six of the eight buildings for warehousing, one 
for on-site servicing of equipment and one for the Army’s Sydney workshop. The stores held everything 
from ship propellers, generators, frozen foods and pencils, with the only exclusions being explosives 
and missiles. About 800 people, mostly civilians, worked at the naval stores until 1990, when the 
operations started to wind down.11 The Navy had vacated the site by 1996. 

In 1996 the South Sydney Development Corporation was established to coordinate development of 
the South Sydney Growth Centre, and the Navy stores at Victoria Park were part of this. In 
December 1997 the land was sold to the NSW Government’s property developer, Landcom. 
Landcom’s task was to act as master planner for the site and to provide infrastructure such as 
sewers, telecommunications and new roads, including Gadigal Avenue. The 1998 masterplan 
allowed for 2,500 dwellings which could accommodate 3,800 people. In addition there were 
allocations for commercial and retail developments.12  

By 1999 most of the buildings had been demolished, except for the old heritage listed tote building 
which had survived since the days when Victoria Park was a racecourse (see Figure 9). Landcom 
provided utilities, developed roads and parks, and private developers built and are still building 
across the site. There is a concentration of residential apartments such as those on Gadigal Avenue.   

Figure 8. The Naval Supply Centre, c 1996 
South Dowling Street is in the foreground.  

 
Source: Photograph courtesy of Landcom, 2014.   

 
11 Interview with Peter Faithful, Personnel Executive Officer from early 1980s until the plant closed in 1996, March 2011; 
W G Heather, Superintendent, Supply Administration, Department of Defence, Parliamentary Committee on Public 
Works, minutes of evidence relating to the development of Navy Supply Centre and Army Workshops at Defence 
establishment, Zetland, Govt Printer, Canberra, 1976. 
12 Landcom, Victoria Park Memorandum of Information, undated, c 1998. 
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Figure 9. The Naval Supply Centre, 1999 
Partially demolished Naval Supply Centre, 1999.  

 
Source: Photograph courtesy of Landcom, 2014. 
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22 Gadigal Avenue 
The 21st century saw the beginnings of the development of extensive residential towers and 
apartments on the site. Number 22 Gadigal Avenue, known as the ESP Apartments was built in 
2004. It was the first of a group of buildings for Stage 3 development at Victoria Park developed by 
the Sydney based Waltcorp Group and designed by Turner, a Surry Hills firm of architects, in 
collaboration with German firm Bolles and Wilson and Nation Associates. The building contained 
221 apartments or varied size and layout, a large penthouse and some commercial space at 
ground level. It won an Australian Institute of Building Professional Excellence Award in 2004.13 

Figure 10. 22 Gadigal Avenue, Zetland, Sydney in 2006 

 
Source: Photograph by J Barr, 2006, Wikimedia Commons, 
https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/4/4a/Zetland1.JPG 

  

 
13 Information obtained from Turner Architects website in 2014, 
https://web.archive.org/web/20140526215745/http://www.turnerassociates.com.au. 

https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/4/4a/Zetland1.JPG
https://web.archive.org/web/20140526215745/http:/www.turnerassociates.com.au/
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How was this 
history found? 
A walk around the precinct will provide clues to the history of this area. Several plaques outline 
some of the main events and street names marking its history. For example, Levy and Hutchinson 
indicate the early landholders and industrialists, and Joynton and Tote Parks reference the 
racecourse along with Victoria and Grandstand Parades. Nuffield Park and all the Groves - Austin, 
Wolseley, Morris and Leyland recall the car plant.  

Early map surveys show the swamps, and mid-20th century maps provide details of the car plant. 
Grace Karskens and Melita Rogowsky’s edited publication titled Green Square, UNSW, 2004 
provides a good overview of the history of the area from the time it was a swamp to the present 
and is available online. The City of Sydney’s Archives & History Resources catalogue contains 
other local material as well as Plans of Management, Conservation Plans and so on.    

The process of a land title search can be started on the NSW Land Registry Services (NSW LRS) 
Online Portal. Entering your own address in a search provides the lot and strata plan number. 
Using this number you can repeatedly perform a ‘prior title search’ until you are down to the four-
digit Volume – Folio number format. A record of the title can then be viewed in the NSW LRS 
Historical Land Records Viewer. The land title documents showed that the park was part of a 1999 
subdivision (Landcom) and provided details about the Nuffield title of 1952. Nuffield’s subdivision 
map gave the references for earlier titles and searching them provided the history of ownership 
from the original grant to William Hutchinson. 

To find information about well-known individuals, the Australian Dictionary of Biography is a great 
place to start. It was used to find information about William Hutchinson and Sir James Joynton 
Smith. 

Given the size and complexity of the recent development of Victoria Park, you should expect to find 
material in files lodged with the City of Sydney Council, and earlier with the South Sydney Council. 
There are papers related to the major stages from the Nuffield subdivision onwards. These are all 
held in the City Archives. When searching the catalogue, it was necessary to enter a range of 
search terms, e.g. Victoria Park Racecourse, Nuffields, Joynton Avenue.  

 

https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/nodes/view/1750227
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
https://online.nswlrs.com.au/
https://online.nswlrs.com.au/
https://hlrv.nswlrs.com.au/
https://hlrv.nswlrs.com.au/
http://adb.anu.edu.au/
https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/hutchinson-william-2217
https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/smith-sir-james-john-joynton-8475
https://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/smith-sir-james-john-joynton-8475
https://archives.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
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